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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited:

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including
responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate
accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is
required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements, management designs and
maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors and Finance and Audit Committee are composed entirely of Directors who are neither management nor
employees of the Credit Union. The Board is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting
responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. The Finance and Audit Committee has the
responsibility of meeting with management, internal auditors, and external auditors to discuss the internal controls over the financial
reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment
of the Credit Union's external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the members to audit the consolidated financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The
external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to
discuss their audit findings.

February 23, 2021

T gl oy P

Executive Officer Chief Finar%ial Officer




Independent Auditor's Report LLP

To the Members of Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited:

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited (the
"Credit Union"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in members' equity and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2020, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

KINGENTRICS ACCOUNTING > CONSULTING > TAX
@ PRAX'IY L%t Employer SUITE 800, 119 - 4TH AVENUE S, SASKATOON SK, S7K 5X2
rrm———— CANADA 2019 T.306.665.6766 F:306.665.9910 MNP.ca



Independent Auditor's Report

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Credit Union to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

February 23, 2021 Chartered Professional Accountants

MNP



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2020

2020 2019
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) 73,692 30,642
Investments (Note 6) 242,686 137,735
Member loans receivable (Note 7) 825,061 882,044
Other assets (Note 9) 5,013 5,055
Property, plant and equipment (Note 10) 11,668 12,320
Intangible assets (Note 11) 620 274
1,158,740 1,068,070
Liabilities
Line of credit (Note 12) - 2,123
Member deposits (Note 13) 1,051,835 958,511
Securitization debt (Note 14) - 3,056
Other liabilities (Note 16) 5,195 4,122
Membership shares (Note 17) 4,760 4,978
1,061,790 972,790
Commitments (Note 22)
Events after the reporting period (Note 27), (Note 28)
Members' equity
Retained earnings 94,571 92,901
Contributed surplus 2,379 2,379
96,950 95,280
1,158,740 1,068,070

Approved on behalf of the Board

/fya%/a%,

Director

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2020

2020 2019
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Interest income
Member loans 34,729 38,065
Investments 3,383 4,792
38,112 42,857
Interest expense
Member deposits 11,054 13,542
Borrowed money 28 97
11,082 13,639
Gross financial margin 27,030 29,218
Other income 6,388 6,080
33,418 35,298
Operating expenses
Personnel 14,408 15,362
Security 833 801
Organizational 330 395
Occupancy 1,806 1,828
General business 7,648 8,464
25,025 26,850
Income before provision for impaired loans and income taxes 8,393 8,448
Provision for impaired loans (Note 7) 6,569 1,396
Income before provision for (recovery of) income taxes 1,824 7,052
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes (Note 15)
Current 761 1,450
Deferred (607) 8
154 1,458
Comprehensive income 1,670 5,594

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members' Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Contributed Retained Total equity

surplus earnings (In thousands)

Balance December 31, 2018 2,379 87,307 89,686
Comprehensive income - 5,594 5,594
Balance December 31, 2019 2,379 92,901 95,280
Comprehensive income - 1,670 1,670
Balance December 31, 2020 2,379 94,571 96,950

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2020

2020 2019
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities
Interest received from member loans 34,582 37,404
Interest received from investments 4,005 5,863
Other income 6,388 6,080
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (22,675) (28,108)
Interest paid on deposits (11,828) (12,219)
Interest paid on borrowings (28) 97)
Income taxes paid (339) (3,798)
10,105 5,125
Financing activities
Net change in member deposits 94,099 30,020
Net change in securitization of mortgages (3,056) (4,340)
Net change in membership shares (Note 17) (218) (1,712)
90,825 23,968
Investing activities
Net change in member loans receivable 50,561 (60,115)
Net change in investments (105,573) 30,167
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (Note 10) (238) (236)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 112
Purchases of intangible assets (Note 11) (507) (102)
(55,757) (30,174)
Increase (decrease) in cash resources 45,173 (1,081)
Cash resources, beginning of year 28,519 29,600
Cash resources, end of year 73,692 28,519
Cash resources are composed of:
Cash and cash equivalents 73,692 30,642
Line of credit - (2,123)
73,692 28,519

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Reporting entity

Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited (the “Credit Union”) was formed pursuant to the Credit Union Act 1998 of
Saskatchewan (“the Act”) and operates nine Credit Union branches.

The Credit Union serves members and non-members in Archerwill, Ituna, Kelliher, Rose Valley, Saltcoats, Theodore,
Tisdale, Wynyard, and Yorkton, Saskatchewan and the surrounding communities. The address of the Credit Union’s
registered office is 64 Broadway Street East, Yorkton, Saskatchewan.

The consolidated financial statements of the Credit Union as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 comprise the
Credit Union and its wholly owned subsidiary CGT Cornerstone Holdings Limited. Together, these entities are referred to as
Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited.

The Credit Union operates as one segment principally in personal and commercial banking in East Central Saskatchewan.
Operating branches are similar in terms of products and services provided, methods used to distribute products and
services, types of members and the nature of the regulatory environment.

The Credit Union conducts its principal operations through various branches, offering products and services including
deposit business, individual lending, and independent business and commercial lending. The deposit business provides a
wide range of deposit and investment products and sundry financial services to all members. The lending business provides
a variety of credit products and services designed specifically for each particular group of borrowers. Other business
comprises business of a corporate nature such as investment, risk management, asset liability management, treasury
operations and revenue and expenses not expressly attributed to the business units.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS") and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Finance and Audit Committee on behalf of the Board of
Directors and authorized for issue on February 23, 2021.

Change in accounting policies

Standards and Interpretations effective in the current period

The Credit Union adopted amendments to the following standards, effective January 1, 2020. Adoption of these
amendments had no effect on the Credit Union’s financial statements.

° IFRS 3 Business Combinations

. IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

. IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

Basis of preparation

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical basis except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.
All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand.




Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Basis of preparation (Continued from previous page)
Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainties about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that would require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in
the future.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in comprehensive income in the period in which the estimate is revised if revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

COVID-19 pandemic considerations

The Canadian economy has experienced significant disruption and market volatility related to the ongoing global COVID-19
pandemic. The overall impact of the pandemic continues to be uncertain and is dependent on actions taken by Canadian
governments, businesses and individuals to limit spread of COVID-19, as well as government economic response and
support efforts. The COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve and the economic environment in which the Credit Union
operates in continues to be subject to sustained volatility, which could continue to negatively impact the Credit Union’s
financial results, as the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and the effectiveness of steps undertaken by governments and
central banks in response to the COVID-19 pandemic remain uncertain. The full extent of the impact that COVID-19,
including government and/or regulatory responses to the outbreak, will have on the Credit Union’s results is highly uncertain
and difficult to predict at this time. Accordingly, there is a higher level of uncertainty with respect to management’s
judgments and estimates.

The estimate most impacted by the pandemic is the measurement of the allowance for expected credit losses. Information
on significant judgments impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements is described in Note 20.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date are discussed
below.

Classification of financial assets

Classification of financial assets requires management to make judgments regarding the business model under which the
Credit Union’s financial assets are held and whether contractual cash flows consist solely of payments of principal and
interest. Management has determined that the penalty to exercise prepayment features embedded in certain loans made to
retail members do not result in payments that are not solely payments of principal and interest because they represent
reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract.

Key assumptions in determining the allowance for expected credit losses

At each reporting period, financial assets are assessed to determine whether their credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. In determining whether credit risk has significantly increased, management develops a number of
assumptions about the following factors which impact the borrowers’ ability to meet debt obligations:

. Expected significant increase in unemployment rates, interest rates

. Declining revenues, working capital deficiencies, increases in balance sheet leverage, liquidity

. Expected or actual changes in internal credit ratings of the borrowers or external credit ratings of the instrument

. The correlation between credit risk on all lending facilities of the same borrower

. Changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit
enhancements

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.




Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Basis of preparation (Continued from previous page)

In estimating expected credit losses, the Credit Union develops a number of assumptions as follows:

. The period over which the Credit Union is exposed to credit risk, considering for example, prepayments, extension
options, demand features

. The probability-weighted outcome, including identification of scenarios that specify the amount and timing of the
cash flows for particular outcomes and the estimated probability of those outcomes

. The risk of default occurring on loans during their expected lives and during the next 12 months after the reporting
date

. Expected cash short falls including, recoveries, costs to recover and the effects of any collateral or other credit
enhancements

. Estimates of effective interest rates used in incorporating the time value of money

. Effects of the pandemic on specific sectors to which the Credit Union has credit exposures

The above assumptions are based on historical information and adjusted for current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Credit Union determines adjustments needed to its historical assumptions by monitoring the
correlation of the probability of default and loss rates with the following economic variables:

. Interest rates

. Unemployment rates

. Gross domestic product
) Inflation

. Loan to value ratios

. Housing price indices

The estimate of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by
evaluating a range of possible outcomes that are neither best-case nor worse-case scenarios. The Credit Union uses
judgment to weight these scenarios.

Fair value of unquoted equity instruments

The Credit Union has assessed that the fair values of its unquoted equity instruments, SaskCentral shares and Concentra
Bank shares approximates its cost based on the terms that the equity investments can not be transferred, the shares can
not be sold and new shares are issued at par value of all currently held shares.

Hedge accounting
In applying hedge accounting, the Credit Union uses the following key judgments:
1. An economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument based on a hedge ratio

The Credit Union uses the same hedge ratio for the hedging relationship as the one that results from the actual quantity of
the portfolio of loans (hedged item) and the interest rate swap (hedging instrument). Interest rate swaps (hedging
instruments) are specifically transacted to economically hedge the portfolio of loans (hedged items). The fair values of the
hedging instruments and the hedged items move in the opposite direction because of the interest rate risk. Therefore, there
is an economic relationship between the portfolios of loans (or a portion thereof) and the swaps.

2. Critical terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument

The Credit Union assesses at inception and in subsequent periods whether the following critical terms of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument have changed.

. Notional amount

. Maturity

. Correlation between 3 month Canadian Dealer Offered Rate ("CDOR") and Prime rate
. Weighted average interest rate




Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Basis of preparation (Continued from previous page)
3. Effect of credit risk

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swaps as hedging instruments with a highly rated counterparty (Concentra) (e.g. A
rated). Therefore, Credit Valuation Adjustment ("CVA") on the hedging instrument is expected to not be material or volatile
in a manner to dominate the value changes resulting from the economic relationship.

Further, the Credit Union considers its own credit risk as low (at December 31, 2020 the Credit Union was above policy and
target for all capital measures, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP") indicated that there was surplus
capital based on internal risk assessment and the 2020 Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation ("CUDGC") review
assessed the Credit Union’s composite risk rating as low) and as a consequence, Debit Valuation Adjustment ("DVA") on
the hedged item is not expected to dominate the hedge effectiveness assessment.

As interest rate swaps are specifically transacted to economically hedge existing loans, application of hedge accounting will
align with the risk management strategy of the Credit Union and therefore, the Credit Union’s hedging relationship and risk
management objective contributes to executing the overall risk management strategy.

For more information, refer to Note 8.
Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for non-financial assets.
Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not subject to amortization, such as goodwill, are tested
annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment if there are indicators that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Deferred income taxes

The calculation of deferred income tax is based on assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty as to timing and which tax
rates are expected to apply when temporary differences reverse. Deferred income tax recorded is also subject to
uncertainty regarding the magnitude of non-capital losses available for carry forward and of the balances in various tax
pools as the corporate tax returns have not been prepared as of the date of financial statement preparation. By their nature,
these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty, and the effect on the consolidated financial statements from
changes in such estimates in future years could be material. Further details are contained in Note 15.

Income taxes

The Credit Union periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies related to income taxes for all years open to audit
based on the latest information available. For matters where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, the Credit Union
records its best estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and penalties in the current tax provision.
Management believes that they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final
outcome may result in a materially different outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities.

Assessment of significant influence and joint control

The Credit Union has a 50% (2019 - 50%) ownership in Thrive Wealth Management Ltd. ("Thrive"), which was incorporated
under the laws of the Province of Saskatchewan, Canada. For additional information on related party transactions with
Thrive, refer to Note 18.

The Credit Union has joint control over the strategic, operating and financial policies of Thrive including decisions regarding
dividends and other distributions. The Credit Union shares control of Thrive as decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Furthermore, there is no contractual arrangement or any other facts or
circumstances that indicate that the parties to the joint arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the
liabilities of the joint arrangement. Therefore, management has determined that the Credit Union has joint control over this
entity and has classified it as a joint venture.




Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Basis of preparation (Continued from previous page)
Useful lives of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

Estimates must be utilized in evaluating the useful lives of all property, plant, equipment and intangible assets for
calculation of the depreciation or amortization for each class of assets. For further discussion of the estimation of useful
lives, refer to the headings property, plant and equipment and intangible assets contained in Note 4.

Securitization derecognition

The determination of whether the Credit Union’s securitization arrangements qualify for derecognition requires management
judgment on the evaluation of the criteria for derecognition. For further discussion of derecognition of securitized assets
refer to the securitization heading and related discussion contained in Note 4.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. The
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Regulations to the Act specify that certain items are required to be disclosed in the consolidated financial statements which
are presented at annual meetings of members. It is management's opinion that the disclosures in these consolidated
financial statements and notes comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Act. Where necessary,
reasonable estimates and interpretations have been made in presenting this information.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Credit Union and its subsidiary.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Credit Union. Control is achieved where the Credit Union is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and it has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee. In assessing control, only rights which give the Credit Union the current ability to direct the relevant
activities and that the Credit Union has the practical ability to exercise, are considered.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in these consolidated financial statements
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
ensure consistency with those used by other members of the group.

Any balances, unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-company transactions, are eliminated
upon consolidation. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Credit Union’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same manner
as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Credit Union at exchange
rates prevailing at the transaction dates (spot exchange rates). Monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the
exchange rates at the statement of financial position date. Exchange gains and losses on translation or settlement are
recognized in comprehensive income for the current period.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the date of the
transaction and non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the items’ fair value was determined. Translation gains and losses are included in comprehensive income.




Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Revenue recognition

The following describes the Credit Union’s principal activities from which it generates revenue.
Service charge fees, commission and other revenue

The Credit Union generates revenue from the Credit Union providing financial services to its members. Revenue is
recognized as services are rendered.

The Credit Union does not have an enforceable right to payment until services are rendered and commission revenue
earned when the products are sold.

The amount of revenue recognized on these transactions is based on the price specified in the contract.

The Credit Union does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or
services to the member and payment by the member exceeds one year. Consequently, the Credit Union does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Revenue recognition for items outside the scope of IFRS 15 is included in the financial instruments section of Note 4.
Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Transaction costs
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss when incurred.

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVOCI") or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). The Credit Union determines the
classification of its financial assets, together with any embedded derivatives, based on the business model for managing the
financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics.

Debt instruments are classified as follows:

. Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is calculated using the
effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign exchange and derecognition are
recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are comprised of cash equivalents,
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank deposits, portfolio term deposits, member loans receivable and accrued interest
thereon, and accounts receivable balances.

. Fair value through other comprehensive income - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, and for which the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment and foreign exchange are recognized in
profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of the financial assets are recognized in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. The Credit Union does not hold any financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

10



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

. Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortized
cost, or fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All
interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss. Financial
assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss include cash, interest rate swap derivative and
index linked derivative.

. Designated at fair value through profit or loss — On initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a
financial asset to be measured at fair value through profit or loss in order to eliminate or significantly reduce an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognizing the gains and
losses on them, on different bases. All interest income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are
recognized in profit or loss. The Credit Union does not hold any financial assets designated to be measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

The Credit Union measures all equity investments at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit or loss. Equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss are comprised of other equity investments and shares in
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank.

Business model assessment

The Credit Union assesses the objective of its business model for holding a financial asset at a level of aggregation which
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. Information considered in this
assessment includes stated policies and objectives and how performance of the portfolio is evaluated.

Contractual cash flow assessment

The cash flows of financial assets are assessed as to whether they are solely payments of principal and interest on the
basis of their contractual terms. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding, and other basic lending risks and costs. In performing this assessment, the Credit Union considers
factors that would alter the timing and amount of cash flows such as prepayment and extension features, terms that might
limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows, and any features that modify consideration for the time value of money.

Reclassifications

The Credit Union reclassifies debt instruments only when its business model for managing those financial assets has
changed. Reclassifications are applied prospectively from the reclassification date and any previously recognized gains,
losses or interest are not restated.

Impairment

The Credit Union recognizes a loss allowance for the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets, other than
debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity investments, as well as lease receivables, contract
assets, and any financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Expected credit losses are measured to reflect a probability-weighted amount, the time value of money, and reasonable and
supportable information regarding past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For member loans receivable the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from
default events that are possible within the next 12-month period, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. For those financial assets for which the Credit Union assessed that a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses resulting from all possible
default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a number of payment
deferrals; these deferrals do not necessarily constitute a significant increase in credit risk. However, additional deferrals are
assessed on an individual basis for increased risk or impairment.

The Credit Union applies the simplified approach for accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component. Using the simplified approach, the Credit Union records a loss allowance equal to the expected credit losses
resulting from all possible default events over the assets’ contractual lifetime.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

The Credit Union assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired at the reporting date. Regular indicators that a
financial instrument is credit-impaired include significant financial difficulties as evidenced through borrowing patterns or
observed balances in other accounts, breaches of borrowing contracts such as default events or breaches of borrowing
covenants, requests to restructure loan payment schedules. For financial assets assessed as credit-impaired at the
reporting date, the Credit Union continues to recognize a loss allowance equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial
assets;

. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, as a provision; and

. For facilities with both a drawn and undrawn component where the Credit Union cannot separately identify

expected credit losses between the two components, as a deduction from the carrying amount of the drawn
component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the carrying amount of the drawn component is presented as a
provision.

Financial assets are written off when the Credit Union has no reasonable expectations of recovering all or any portion
thereof.

Refer to Note 20 for additional information about the Credit Union’s credit risk management process, credit risk exposure
and the amounts arising from expected credit losses.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Credit Union applies its accounting policies for the derecognition of a financial asset to a part of a financial asset only
when:

. The part comprises only specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset;
. The part comprises only a pro-rata share of the cash flows from a financial asset; or
. The part comprises only a pro-rata share of specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset.

In all other situations the Credit Union applies its accounting policies for the derecognition of a financial asset to the entirety
of a financial asset.

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or the financial asset has been transferred under particular circumstances.

For this purpose, a financial asset is transferred if the Credit Union either:

. Transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset; or

. Retains the right to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes an obligation to pay
received cash flows in full to one or more third parties without material delay and is prohibited from further selling
or transferring the financial asset.

Transferred financial assets are evaluated to determine the extent to which the Credit Union retains the risks and rewards of
ownership. When the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, it evaluates whether it has retained control of the financial asset.

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, or risks and rewards have neither been
transferred nor retained and control of the financial asset has not been retained, the Credit Union derecognizes the financial
asset. At the same time, the Credit Union separately recognizes as assets or liabilities the fair value of any rights and
obligations created or retained in the transfer. Any difference between the carrying amount measured at the date of
recognition and the consideration received is recognized in profit or loss. Such transactions include syndications of member
loans.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Where the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all risks and rewards of ownership and retains control of
the transferred financial asset, it continues to recognize the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and
also recognizes an associated liability. Both the continuing financial asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Credit Union has retained. Income and expenses related to the extent
of the Credit Union’s continuing involvement in the transferred asset and the associated liability are subsequently
recognized. The Credit Union considers member loan securitization to be transfers of assets resulting in continuing
involvement.

Modification of financial assets

The Credit Union assesses the modification of terms of a financial asset to evaluate whether its contractual rights to the
cash flows from that asset have expired in accordance with the Credit Union’s derecognition policy.

When the modifications do not result in derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
is recalculated with any difference between the previous carrying amount and the new carrying amount recognized in profit
or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated as the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

For the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, at each reporting date subsequent to the modification, the Credit
Union continues to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on the modified financial assets from
the date of initial recognition.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and initial measurement

The Credit Union recognizes a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, the Credit Union measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. Interest, gains and losses relating to a financial liability are recognized in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date the Credit Union becomes party to the provisions of the contract,
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
not designated as a hedging instrument are recognized in profit or loss.

The Credit Union designates certain derivative financial instruments as the hedging instrument in qualifying hedging
relationships in order to better reflect the effect of its risk management activities in the consolidated financial statements.

Qualifying hedging relationships are those where there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship, and the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the actual quantities of the
hedging instrument and the hedged item that the Credit Union uses for hedging purposes.

At inception of the hedging relationship, the Credit Union documents the economic relationship between the hedging
instrument(s) and the hedged item(s), along with its risk management objective and strategy.
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Fair value hedges
The Credit Union uses fair value hedges to hedge its exposure to changes in the fair value of member loans receivable.

Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognized immediately in profit or loss together with changes in the
fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the risks being hedged.

Where the Credit Union has designated a group of assets and/or liabilities in a fair value hedge, gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the respective
individual items comprising the group.

When the hedged item is a financial instrument measured at amortized cost, adjustments to the hedged item are amortized
to profit or loss. Amortization may begin as soon as a hedging adjustment exists but no later than when the hedged item
ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses. Amortization is based on a recalculated effective interest rate
calculated at the date that amortization begins.

Rebalancing and discontinuation of hedging relationships

If the hedge ratio for risk management purposes is no longer optimal but the risk management objective remains
unchanged and the hedging relationship continues to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging ratio is rebalanced by
adjusting either the volume of the hedging instrument or the volume of the hedged item to realign the hedge ratio with the
ratio used for risk management purposes. Hedge ineffectiveness is recognized in profit or loss at the time of rebalancing.

Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria,
including instances where the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recorded in profit or loss when the Credit Union’s right to receive payments is established, it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Credit Union, and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Interest
Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost of the financial liability. The
effective interest rate is calculated considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, except for the expected
credit losses of financial assets.

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the instrument is measured on initial
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus any cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of
any difference between the initial amount and maturity amount and adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The
‘gross carrying amount’ of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit
losses.

Interest income and expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or the amortized cost of the financial liability.

Where a financial asset has become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated in
subsequent periods by applying the effective interest method to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset
subsequently ceases to be credit-impaired, calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, with the net amount presented in the statement of financial position,
when, and only when, the Credit Union has a current and legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and
intends either to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or when arising from a group of
similar transactions if the resulting income and expenses are not material.

Collateral

The Credit Union recognizes the proceeds from the sale of any non-cash collateral that has been pledged to it and a liability
measured at fair value for its obligation to return the collateral.

If a debtor defaults under the terms of its contract and is no longer entitled to the return of any collateral, the Credit Union
recognizes the collateral as an asset initially measured at fair value or, if it has already sold the collateral, derecognizes its
obligation to return the collateral.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Credit Union’s cash management system.

Investments

Each investment is classified into one of the categories described under financial instruments. The classification dictates
the accounting treatment for the carrying value and changes in that value.

SaskCentral and Concentra Bank deposits and shares

SaskCentral and Concentra Bank deposits are measured at amortized cost. Shares are measured at fair value, with
adjustments to fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Portfolio Investments

Portfolio term deposits are measured at amortized cost.

Investments in equity investments are measured at fair value, with adjustments recognized in profit or loss.
Investments in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby the two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to net
assets of the arrangement.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for at their cost of acquisition. Subsequent to acquisition, investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU’s, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGU'’s for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in comprehensive
income.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognized immediately in comprehensive income.

Securitization

The Credit Union securitizes loan assets, generally through the sale of these assets to third parties. As the Credit Union
remains exposed to residual risk and reward through the retention of items such as servicing requirements and the right to
excess spread, these assets have not been de-recognized, as the de-recognition criteria have not been met and they
continue to be reported on the consolidated statement of financial position. The residual risks associated with these assets
are mitigated by the Credit Union’s risk policies.

Syndication

The Credit Union syndicates individual assets with various other financial institutions primarily to manage credit risk, create
liquidity and manage regulatory capital for the Credit Union. Syndicated loans transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
related to the transferred financial assets and are derecognized from the Credit Union’s consolidated statement of financial
position. All loans syndicated by the Credit Union are on a fully serviced basis. The Credit Union receives fee income for
services provided in the servicing of the transferred financial assets.

Foreclosed assets

Foreclosed assets held for sale are initially recorded at the lower of cost and fair value less costs to sell. Cost comprises the
balance of the loan at the date on which the Credit Union obtains title to the asset plus subsequent disbursements related to
the asset, less any revenues or lease payments received. Foreclosed assets held for sale are subsequently valued at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Foreclosed assets are recorded in member loans receivable
as outlined in Note 7.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

All assets having limited useful lives are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Land
has an unlimited useful life and is therefore not depreciated. Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition. Internally
constructed assets are depreciated from the time an asset is available for use.

The depreciation rates applicable for each class of asset during the current and comparative period are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements 10-40 years
Automotive 5 years
Furniture and equipment 3-10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method applied to each class of assets are reassessed at each reporting
date.
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Gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment will be determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and recognised in comprehensive income as other operating
income or other operating costs, respectively.

Intangible assets
Computer software

The Credit Union's only intangible asset is computer software which is amortized to comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 3 - 10 years. The useful life of computer software will be reviewed on an annual
basis and the useful life is altered if estimates have changed significantly.

Gains or losses on the disposal of intangible assets will be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, and recognised in comprehensive income as other operating income or other
operating costs, respectively.

Income taxes

The Credit Union accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Current and deferred taxes are recognized
in comprehensive income except to the extent that the tax is recognized either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, or the tax arises from a business combination. Under this method, the provision for income taxes is based on the tax
rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the assets are
realized or the liabilities are settled.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base,
except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting or taxable income.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted to
those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available which allows the deferred tax asset to be
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Leases

The Credit Union assesses at inception of a contract, whether the contract is, or contains a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time,
the Credit Union assesses whether the customer has the following through the period of use:

. The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset; and
. The right to direct the use of the identified asset.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after January 1, 2019.

Where the Credit Union is a lessee in a contract that contains a lease component, the Credit Union allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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At the lease commencement date, the Credit Union recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use
asset is initially measured at cost. The cost of the right-of-use asset is comprised of the initial amount of the lease liability,
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received, initial direct costs
incurred by the Credit Union, and an estimate of the costs to be incurred by the Credit Union in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset and restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

After the commencement date, the Credit Union measures right-of-use assets by applying the cost model, whereby the
right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term or the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset. The estimated useful
life of the right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. The
determination of the depreciation period is dependent on whether the Credit Union expects that the ownership of the
underlying asset will transfer to the Credit Union by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Credit Union will exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments not paid at the lease commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or the Credit Union's incremental borrowing rate, if the interest
rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable by the Credit Union under a residual
value guarantee, the exercise price of a purchase option that the Credit Union is reasonably certain to exercise, and
payment of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the Credit Union exercising an option to terminate
the lease. After the commencement date, the Credit Union measures the lease liability at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.

The Credit Union remeasures the lease liability when there is a change in the lease term, a change in the Credit Union's
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset, a change in the Credit Union's estimate of amounts expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a
rate used to determine those payments. On remeasurement of the lease liability, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The Credit Union has elected to not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of facilities and
low value leases. Short-term leases are leases with a term of twelve months or less. Low value leases are leases where the
underlying asset has a new value of $5,000 USD or less. The Credit Union recognizes the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on either a straight-line basis over the lease term or another systematic basis if that basis is
more representative of the pattern of the lessee’s benefit.

Employee benefits
The Credit Union’s post employment benefit programs consist of a defined contribution plan.

Credit Union contributions to the defined contribution plan are expensed as incurred. Pension benefits of $758 (2019 —
$757) were paid to the defined contribution retirement plan during the year.

Membership shares

Shares are classified as liabilities or member equity in accordance with their terms. Shares redeemable at the option of the
member, either on demand or on withdrawal from membership, are classified as liabilities. Shares redeemable at the
discretion of the Credit Union Board of Directors are classified as equity. Shares redeemable subject to regulatory
restrictions are accounted for using the criteria set out in IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Cooperative Entities and Similar
Instruments.
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Government grants

The Credit Union recognizes government assistance when there is reasonable assurance that it will comply with the
conditions required to qualify for the assistance, and that the assistance will be received. The Credit Union recognizes
government assistance as other income.

Standards issued but not yet effective

The Credit Union has not yet applied the following new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards that have
been issued as at December 31, 2020 but are not yet effective. Unless otherwise stated, the Credit Union does not plan to
early adopt any of these new or amended standards and interpretations.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

Amendments to IFRS 3, issued in May 2020, update all old references in IFRS 3 to the old Conceptual Framework to the
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. The amendments also add an exception to the IFRS 3 recognition
requirements, whereby for liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies if incurred separately, an acquirer would apply IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 to identify the
obligations assumed in a business combination, instead of the Conceptual Framework. Finally, the amendments make
requirements for contingent assets more explicit by adding a statement in IFRS 3 that an acquirer should not recognize
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The amendments are effective for transactions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Credit Union does not expect the amendments to have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IAS 16 Property, Plant, and Equipment

Amendments to IAS 16, issued in May 2020, prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be available for use. Instead, the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, would be
recognized in profit or loss.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Credit Union does not expect
the amendments to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Amendments to IAS 37, issued in May 2020, specify that in assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost
of fulfilling a contract includes both the incremental costs and an allocation of costs that relate directly to contract activities.
The amendments also include examples of costs that do, and do not, relate directly to a contract.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. The Credit Union does not expect
the amendments to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
Cash 30,154 6,524
Cash equivalents 43,538 24,118
73,692 30,642
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Investments
2020 2019
Measured at fair value through profit or loss
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares 7,462 7,462
Other equity investments 7,438 7,305
14,900 14,767
Measured at amortized cost
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank liquidity deposits 101,862 97,265
Concentra Bank term deposits 75,053 25,053
Portfolio term deposits 50,000 -
226,915 122,318
Accrued interest 871 650
242,686 137,735

Included in other equity investments is the Credit Union's investment in Thrive, which is measured using the equity
accounting method and carried at a nominal amount in accordance with the Credit Union's accounting policy.

The table below shows the credit risk exposure on investments, excluding liquidity reserves and balances on deposit with
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank. Ratings are as provided by Dominion Bond Rating Services ("DBRS") unless otherwise
indicated.

2020 2019

Investment portfolio rating
AA 10,000 -
A 508 508
A- 40,000 -
R1 6,954 6,954
Unrated 7,438 7,305

64,900 14,767

SaskCentral shares are included in the R1 category above and Concentra Bank shares are included in the A category
above.

Statutory Liquidity

Pursuant to Regulations, SaskCentral requires that the Credit Union maintain 10% of its total liabilities in specified liquidity
deposits. The provincial regulator for Credit Unions, CUDGC, requires that the Credit Union adhere to these prescribed
limits and restrictions. As of December 31, 2020 the Credit Union met the requirement.

Liguidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

The Credit Union has implemented a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR") which is a regulatory requirement of CUDGC. The
objective of the LCR is to ensure that the Credit Union has an adequate stock of unencumbered high-quality liquid assets
(“HQLA") that:

) consists of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value; and
. meets its liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day stress scenario, by which time it is assumed corrective actions have
been taken by the Credit Union and/or CUDGC.
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This stress scenario noted above is viewed as a minimum requirement. The Credit Union conducts additional stress tests to
assess the level of liquidity to hold beyond the regulatory minimum, and constructs scenarios that could cause difficulties for
specific business activities. Internal stress tests have longer time horizons and results are reported to CUDGC upon
request.

The LCR is calculated as the value of the stock in HQLA in stressed conditions divided by the total net cash outflows over
the next 30 calendar days.

As at December 31, 2020, the Credit Union is in compliance with regulatory requirements.

Member loans receivable

Principal and allowance by loan type:

2020

Allowance for
Principal Principal Allowance expected Net carrying
performing impaired specific credit losses value
Agriculture loans 60,580 401 376 143 60,462
Commercial loans 57,591 5,100 3,665 1,249 57,777
Consumer loans 62,601 158 127 426 62,206
Lines of credit 70,493 203 78 278 70,340
Mortgages 565,096 7,780 1,031 1,022 570,823
816,361 13,642 5,277 3,118 821,608
Foreclosed assets 270 - - - 270
Accrued interest 3,183 1,399 1,399 - 3,183
Total 819,814 15,041 6,676 3,118 825,061
2019

Allowance for
Principal Principal Allowance expected Net carrying
performing impaired specific  credit losses value
Agriculture loans 66,106 415 271 43 66,207
Commercial loans 58,805 6,843 697 119 64,832
Consumer loans 62,702 173 154 80 62,641
Lines of credit 84,961 - 600 394 83,967
Mortgages 599,281 1,431 455 1,100 599,157
871,855 8,862 2,177 1,736 876,804
Foreclosed assets 1,000 - - - 1,000
Accrued interest 4,231 204 195 - 4,240
Total 877,086 9,066 2,372 1,736 882,044

The Credit Union has securitized loans receivable under the National Housing Authority Mortgage Backed Security program
in the amount of $nil (2019 - $3,057) which do not qualify for de-recognition and are therefore included in the above
Mortgages balance at December 31, 2020.
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Member loans receivable (Continued from previous page)

The allowance for loan impairment changed as follows:

2020 2019

Balance, beginning of year 4,108 5,945
Provision for impaired loans 6,569 1,396
10,677 7,341

Less: accounts written off, net of recoveries 883 3,233
Balance, end of year 9,794 4,108

Derivatives and hedge accounting

The following disclosures summarize the Credit Union’s risk management practices and use of hedge accounting as
required by IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk

Risk management strategy

The Credit Union uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk arising from the changes in the fair
value of fixed-rate member loans receivable due to fluctuations in the benchmark interest rate (prime).

The Credit Union uses interest rate swaps to hedge its risk exposure by purchasing swaps on an ad hoc basis to match the
specific amount of issuances of member loans receivable that they wish to hedge. The Credit Union uses this strategy to
manage interest rate risk and monitors their static gap and interest rate risk measures on a quarterly basis to determine if
an interest rate swap purchase would be necessary.

The economic relationship between interest rate swaps and fixed-rate member loans receivable is established by
assessing the difference between the hedging instrument interest rate and the rate used by the market to determine pricing
of the hedged item and how that difference changes over time. The hedge ratio is determined using the actual amount of
fixed-rate loans and advances hedged and the nominal amounts of interest-rate swaps.

Hedge ineffectiveness is expected to arise from deviations between the interest rate reset date of fixed-rate member loans
receivable and interest rate swaps.

Amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows

At year-end, the Credit Union held the following interest rate swaps as hedging instruments in fair value hedges of interest
rate risk.

2020
Maturity
Lessthan 3  Greater than 12
months months
Hedge of member loans receivable
Nominal amount in thousands of dollars 10,000 15,000
Average fixed interest-rate 0.883 2.200
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2019
Maturity
Less than 3 6 - 12 months Greater than 12
months months
Hedge of member loans receivable
Nominal amount in thousands of dollars 10,000 10,000 25,000
Average fixed interest-rate 0.785 0.960 2.091

Effects of fair value hedge accounting on financial position and performance

The fair value of the interest rate swap derivative resulted in a liability of $739 (2019 - asset of $92) which was included in
other liabilities (2019 - other assets). The decrease in fair value of $831 (2019 - increase in fair value of $551) was charged
to profit or loss. There were no adjustments required for ineffectiveness of the hedges in 2020 or 2019.

Concentra required the Credit Union to fund $425 (2019 - $0) of the interest rate swap derivative which has been applied to
accounts receivable. This has resulted in a net liability of $314 (2019 - asset of $92).

Derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments

The Credit Union has index linked derivatives that either do not qualify or are not designated for hedge accounting.
Accordingly, these derivative financial instruments have been measured at fair value, with the related gain recognized in
profit or loss. The total fair value of these derivative financial assets and liabilities was $838 (2019 — $789).

Other assets

2020 2019

Accounts receivable 1,348 1,674
Corporate income tax recoverable 546 968
Prepaid expenses and deposits 673 531
Deferred tax asset (Note 15) 1,608 1,001
Interest rate swap derivative (Note 8) - 92
Index linked derivatives (Note 8) 838 789
5,013 5,055
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Property, plant and equipment

Buildings and Furniture and
Land improvements Automotive equipment Total
Cost
Balance at December 31, 2018 963 19,137 65 4,076 24,241
Additions 18 44 - 174 236
Disposals (26) (240) - (687) (953)
Transfer to buildings and
improvements - 42 - (42) -
Balance at December 31, 2019 955 18,983 65 3,521 23,524
Additions 81 34 - 123 238
Disposals - (12) - (293) (305)
Balance at December 31, 2020 1,036 19,005 65 3,351 23,457
Accumulated depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2018 - 7,703 37 3,256 10,996
Depreciation - 685 13 355 1,053
Disposals - (166) - (679) (845)
Balance at December 31, 2019 - 8,222 50 2,932 11,204
Depreciation - 630 6 250 886
Disposals - (9) - (292) (301)
Balance at December 31, 2020 - 8,843 56 2,890 11,789
Net book value
At December 31, 2019 955 10,761 15 589 12,320
At December 31, 2020 1,036 10,162 9 461 11,668
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Intangible assets

2020 2019
Cost 2,889 2,488
Accumulated amortization (2,269) (2,214)
620 274
Computer
software
Cost
Balance December 31, 2018 2,520
Additions 102
Disposals (134)
Balance at December 31, 2019 2,488
Additions 507
Disposals (106)
Balance at December 31, 2020 2,889
Accumulated amortization
Balance December 31, 2018 2,084
Amortization 246
Disposals (116)
Balance at December 31, 2019 2,214
Amortization 146
Disposals (91)
Balance at December 31, 2020 2,269

Line of credit

The Credit Union has an authorized line of credit due on demand, with no fixed repayment date, bearing interest at CDN
prime minus 0.5% (1.95% at December 31, 2020) and US prime plus 0.5% (3.75% at December 31, 2020) in the amount of
$18,000 CDN (2019 - $18,000) and $1,000 US (2019 - $1,000) from SaskCentral. As at December 31, 2020, $nil was
advanced (2019 - $nil advanced less outstanding items of $2,123).

Borrowings are secured by a general securities agreement, financial services agreement, and an operating account
agreement.
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15.

Member deposits

2020 2019
Chequing, savings, investor savings 561,724 463,110
Registered savings plans 99,933 100,822
Term deposits 384,954 388,580
Accrued interest 5,224 5,999
1,051,835 958,511
Total deposits include $5,084 (2019 - $3,777) denominated in foreign currencies.
Member deposits are subject to the following terms:
. Chequing, savings and investor savings products are due on demand and bear interest at rates up to 1.00% (2019
- 2.50%).
. Registered savings plans are subject to fixed and variable rates of interest up to 3.75% (2019 - 3.75%), with
interest payments due monthly, annually or on maturity.
. Term deposits are subject to fixed and variable rates of interest up to 3.65% (2019 - 3.65%), with interest
payments due monthly, annually or on maturity.
Securitization debt
2020 2019
Securitization debt - 3,054
Issuance costs net of discounts - 2)
Accrued interest - 4
- 3,056

The terms of the agreement require cash outflows to the purchaser of the securitized debt. All securitization debt has now
matured; therefore, there will be no future payments.

Income tax

Income tax expense recognized in comprehensive income

The applicable tax rate is the aggregate of the federal income tax rate of 15% (2019 - 15%) and the provincial tax rate of
12% (2019 - 12%). Subsidiary income is taxed at a combined rate of 27% (2019 - 27%).

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) recognized in comprehensive income

The deferred income tax recovery recognized in comprehensive income for the current year is a result of the following
changes:

2020 2019
Deferred tax asset
Property, plant and equipment 505 468
Liabilities that are deducted for tax purposes only when paid 81 -
Allowance for impaired loans 1,022 533
Net deferred tax asset 1,608 1,001

26



Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

15.
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17.

Income tax (Continued from previous page)

2020 2019
Net deferred tax asset is reflected in the statement of financial position as
follows
Deferred tax asset 1,608 1,001
Reconciliation between average effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate

2020 2019
Applicable tax rate 27.00 % 27.00 %
Reduction for Credit Unions - % (2.50)%
Saskatchewan Technology Startup Incentive tax credit (0.93)% - %
T5013 adjustments for prior year recorded in the current year (13.76)% - %
Non-deductible and other items (3.85)% (3.83)%
Average effective tax rate (tax expense divided by profit before tax) 8.46 % 20.67 %
Other liabilities

2020 2019
Accounts payable 3,618 3,333
Interest rate swap derivative (Note 8) 739 -
Index linked derivatives (Note 8) 838 789

5,195 4,122
Membership shares
Authorized:
Unlimited number of Common shares, at an issue price of $5.
Unlimited number of Surplus shares, at an issue price of $1.
Issued (in thousands): 2020 2019
20 Common shares (2019 - 20) 100 102
4,660 Surplus shares (2019 - 4,876) 4,660 4,876
4,760 4,978

All common and surplus shares are classified as liabilities.

When an individual becomes a member of the Credit Union, they are issued a common share at $5 per share. Each

member of the Credit Union has one vote, regardless of the number of common shares held.

Surplus shares are established as a means of returning excess earnings to the members and at the same time increasing
the Credit Union's equity base. The Articles of Incorporation for the Credit Union disclose the conditions concerning surplus

shares.

During the year, the Credit Union issued 1 (2019 - nil) and redeemed 1 (2019 - 1) common shares, and also issued nil

(2019 - nil) and redeemed 216 (2019 - 1,711) surplus shares.
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Related party transactions

Key management compensation of the Credit Union

Key management personnel ("KMP") of the Credit Union are the Chief Executive Officer, Vice President of Finance and
Risk, Vice President of Strategy and Technology, Vice President of Retail Services, Vice President of People and
Governance, Vice President of Marketing and Communications, and members of the Board of Directors. KMP remuneration
includes the following expenses:

2020 2019

Salaries and short-term benefits 1,655 1,610

Transactions with key management personnel

The Credit Union, in accordance with its policy, may grant credit to its directors, management and staff at concessional
rates of interest on their loans and facilities.

Loans made to KMP are approved under the same lending criteria applicable to members and are included in member
loans on the statement of financial position. There are no loans to KMP that are impaired.

Directors, management and staff of the Credit Union hold deposit accounts. These accounts are maintained under the
same terms and conditions as accounts of other members, and are included in deposit accounts on the statement of
financial position.

There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the family members of KMP.

In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union provided normal financial services to its wholly-owned subsidiary CGT
Cornerstone Holdings Limited on terms similar to those offered to non-related parties.

These loans and deposits were made in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which
is the consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

2020 2019
Aggregate loans to KMP 4,413 4,609
Aggregate revolving credit facilities to KMP 1,386 1,373
Less: approved and undrawn lines of credit (1,170) (730)
4,629 5,252
2020 2019

During the year the aggregate value of loans approved to KMP amounted to:
Revolving credit 70 273
Mortgages 169 559
Loans 227 76
466 908
2020 2019

Income and expense transactions with KMP consisted of:

Interest earned on loans to KMP 182 210
Total interest paid on deposits to KMP 21 28
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Related party transactions (Continued from previous page)

2020 2019
The total value of member deposits from KMP as at the year-end:
Chequing and demand deposits 3,784 2,362
Term deposits 301 385
Registered plans 298 259
Total value of member deposits due to KMP 4,383 3,006
Directors’ fees and expenses
2020 2019
Directors' expenses 19 31
Meeting, training and conference costs 6 21

Amounts paid to directors range from $3 (2019 - $2) to $23 (2019 - $28), with an average of $9 (2019 - $11).
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank

The Credit Union is a member of SaskCentral, which acts as a depository for surplus funds received from and loans made
to credit unions. SaskCentral also provides other services for a fee to the Credit Union and acts in an advisory capacity.

The Credit Union is related to Concentra Bank, which is owned in part by SaskCentral. Concentra Bank provides financial
intermediation and trust services to Canadian credit unions and associated commercial and retail customers.

Interest earned on investments during the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $3,204 (2019 - $3,653).
Dividends received during the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $616 (2019 - $654).

Interest and stand-by fees paid on borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $2 (2019 - $6).
Payments made for affiliation dues for the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $104 (2019 - $197).

Celero Solutions

The Credit Union has entered into an agreement with Celero Solutions to provide the delivery of banking system services
and the maintenance of the infrastructure needed to ensure uninterrupted delivery of such services. Celero Solutions was
formed as a joint venture by the Credit Union Centrals of Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba along with Concentra Bank.

Thrive Wealth Management Ltd.

The Credit Union provides access to their assets under management and support services to Thrive including management,
technology, accounting, human resources, and property management services.

Other income during the year ended December 31, 2020 amounted to $472 (2019 - $518)

There is a receivable of $447 (2019 - $495) due to the Credit Union and a payable of $16 (2019 - $9) due to Thrive as at
December 31, 2020.

Subsequent to year-end, the Credit Union disposed of its shares in Thrive Wealth Management Ltd. See Note 28 for details.
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Capital management

A capital management framework is included in policies and procedures established by the Board of Directors. The Credit
Union’s objectives when managing capital are to:

. Adhere to regulatory capital requirements as minimum benchmarks;

. Co-ordinate strategic risk management and capital management;

. Develop financial performance targets/budgets/goals;

. Administer a patronage program that is consistent with capital requirements;

. Administer an employee incentive program that is consistent with capital requirements; and
. Develop a growth strategy that is coordinated with capital management requirements.

CUDGC prescribes capital adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements. The capital adequacy rules issued by
CUDGC have been based on the Basel Ill framework, consistent with the financial industry in general.

The Credit Union follows a risk-weighted asset calculation for credit and operational risk. Under this approach, credit unions
are required to measure capital adequacy in accordance with instructions for determining risk-adjusted capital and risk-
weighted assets, including off-balance sheet commitments. Based on the prescribed risk of each type of asset, a weighting
of 0% to 1,250% is assigned. The ratio of regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets is calculated and compared to the
standard outlined by CUDGC. Regulatory standards require credit unions to maintain a minimum total eligible capital to risk-
weighted assets of 8%, a minimum tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 6% and a minimum common equity tier 1 capital
to risk-weighted assets of 4.5%. In addition to the minimum capital ratios, the Credit Union is required to hold a capital
conservation buffer of 2.5%. The capital conservation buffer is designed to avoid breaches of the minimum capital
requirement. Eligible capital consists of total tier 1 and tier 2 capital.

Tier 1 capital is defined as a credit union’s primary capital and comprises the highest quality of capital elements while tier 2
is secondary capital and falls short of meeting tier 1 requirements for permanence or freedom from mandatory charges. Tier
1 capital consists of two components: common equity tier 1 capital and additional tier 1 capital. Common equity tier 1
capital includes retained earnings, contributed surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI").

Deductions from common equity tier 1 capital include goodwill, intangible assets, deferred tax assets (except those arising
from temporary differences), increases in equity capital resulting from securitization transactions, unconsolidated substantial
investments and fair value gains/losses on own-use property. Additional tier 1 capital consists of qualifying membership
shares and other investment shares issued by the Credit Union that meet the criteria for inclusion in additional tier 1 capital.

Tier 2 capital includes a collective allowance for credit losses to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-weighted assets, subordinated
indebtedness, and qualifying membership shares or other investment shares issued by the Credit Union that meet the
criteria for inclusion in tier 2 capital and are not included in tier 1 capital.

Regulatory standards also require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum leverage ratio of 5%. This ratio is calculated by
dividing eligible capital by total assets less deductions from capital plus specified off-balance sheet exposures. Based on
the type of off-balance sheet exposure, a conversion factor is applied to the leverage ratio.

The following table compares CUDGC regulatory standards to the Credit Union’s board policy for 2020:

Regulatory Board limits
standards
Total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets 10.50 % 12.00 %
Total tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 8.50 % 11.00 %
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 7.00 % 11.00 %
Leverage ratio 5.00 % 7.00 %

During the year, the Credit Union complied with all internal and external capital requirements.
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Capital management (Continued from previous page)

The following table summarizes key capital information:

2020 2019
Eligible capital
Common equity tier 1 capital 96,330 95,006
Additional tier 1 capital - -
Total tier 1 capital 96,330 95,006
Total tier 2 capital 7,878 6,715
Total eligible capital 104,208 101,721
Risk-weighted assets
Total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets 14.31 % 13.50 %
Total tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 13.23 % 12.61 %
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 13.23 % 12.61 %
Leverage ratio 8.79 % 9.14 %

Financial instruments
The Credit Union, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments which result in exposure to the
following risks: credit risk, market risk, and liquidity risk.

Accordingly, the Credit Union has established avoidance of undue concentrations of risk, hedging of risk exposures, and
requirements for collateral to mitigate credit risk as risk management objectives. In seeking to meet these objectives, the
Credit Union follows risk management policies approved by its Board of Directors.

The Credit Union's risk management policies and procedures include the following:

. Ensure all activities are consistent with the mission, vision and values of the Credit Union
) Balance risk and return

. Manage credit, market and liquidity risk through preventative and detective controls

. Ensure credit quality is maintained

. Ensure credit, market, and liquidity risk is maintained at acceptable levels

. Diversify risk in transactions, member relationships and loan portfolios

. Price according to risk taken, and

. Using consistent credit risk exposure tools.

Various Board of Directors committees are involved in financial instrument risk management oversight, including the Audit
and Risk Committee and Conduct Review Committee.

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the Credit Union’s risks to which it is exposed or its
general policies and procedures for managing risk, except as it relates to COVID-19 payment deferrals.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counterparty to honour its financial or
contractual obligations to the Credit Union. Credit risk primarily arises from member loans receivable.
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Financial instruments (Continued from previous page)
Risk management process

Credit risk management is integral to the Credit Union’s activities. Management and the Board of Directors are responsible
for developing and implementing the credit risk management practices of the Credit Union by establishing the relevant
policies and procedures. Management carefully monitors and manages the Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk by
reviewing member credit extension policies and guidelines and reviewing the performance of loan portfolios, including
default events and past due status. The risk management process starts at the time of a member credit application and
continues until the loan is fully repaid. The primary credit risk management policies and procedures include the following:

. Loan security (collateral) requirements
. Security valuation processes, including method used to determine the value of real property and personal
property when that property is subject to a mortgage or other charge
. Maximum loan to value ratios where a mortgage or other charge on real or personal property is taken as
security
. Borrowing member capacity (repayment ability) requirements
. Borrowing member character requirements
. Limits on aggregate credit exposure per individual and/or related parties
. Limits on concentration of credit risk by loan type, industry and economic sector
. Limits on the types of credit facilities and services offered
. Internal loan approval processes and loan documentation standards
. Loan re-negotiation, extension and renewal processes
. Processes that identify adverse situations and trends, including risks associated with economic, geographic and
industry sectors
. Control and monitoring processes including portfolio risk identification and delinquency tolerances
. Timely loan analysis processes to identify, access and manage delinquent and impaired loans
. Collection processes that include action plans for deteriorating loans
. Overdraft control and administration processes
. Loan syndication processes

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies, processes and methodologies are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain
relevant and effective in managing credit risk.

To meet the needs of its members and to manage its own exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Credit Union
participates in various commitments and contingent liability contracts. The primary purpose of these contracts is to make
funds available for the financing needs of members. These are subject to normal credit standards, financial controls, risk
management and monitoring procedures. The contractual amounts of these credit instruments represent the maximum
credit risk exposure without taking into account the fair value of any collateral, in the event other parties fail to perform their
obligations under these instruments.

The Credit Union makes the following instruments available to its members:

. Guarantees and standby letters of credit representing irrevocable assurances that the Credit Union will pay if a
member cannot meet their obligations to a third party
. Commitments to extend credit representing unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans

(including lines of credit and credit cards), guarantees or letters of credit

The amounts shown on the table below do not necessarily represent future cash requirements since many commitments will
expire or terminate without being funded.
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As at year-end, the Credit Union had the following outstanding financial instruments subject to credit risk:

2020 2019
Unadvanced lines of credit 125,424 120,125
Guarantees and standby letters of credit 4,151 4,947
Commitments to extend credit 19,056 35,477

148,631 160,549

Inputs, assumptions and techniques
Definition of default and assessments of credit risk

Financial instruments are assessed at each reporting date for a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
This assessment considers changes in the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date as compared to the date of initial
recognition.

The Credit Union considers member loans receivable to be in default when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due or other objective evidence of impairment exists, such as notification from the borrower or breach of major
covenants. This definition is consistent with the definitions used for the Credit Union’s internal credit risk management
practices and has been selected because it most closely aligns the definition of default to the Credit Union’s past credit
experience, and the covenants placed in standard borrowing contracts. Relatively few financial instruments subsequently
return to performing status after a default has occurred under this definition without further intervention on the part of the
Credit Union.

Changes in credit risk are assessed on the basis of the risk that a default will occur over the contractual lifetime of the
financial instrument rather than based on changes in the amount of expected credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment the Credit Union takes into account all reasonable and supportable information including forward-looking
information, available without undue cost or effort in making this assessment. The Credit Union considers past due
information of its balances and information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings, such as
requests for loan modifications.

The credit risk of a financial instrument is deemed to have significantly increased since initial recognition when contractual
payments have exceeded 30 days past due, or other information becomes available to management (e.qg., through the
course of regular credit reviews, communication with the borrower or forecasting processes which consider macroeconomic
conditions expected to have a future impact on borrowers). The Credit Union considers there not to have been a significant
increase in credit risk despite contractual payments being more than 30 days past due when they have interviewed the
borrower and determined that payment is forthcoming.

The Credit Union identifies credit-impaired financial assets through regular reviews of past due balances and credit
assessments of its members. Credit-impaired financial assets are typically placed on the Credit Union's watch list based on
its internal credit risk policies. In making this assessment, the Credit Union considers past due information of its balances
and information about the borrower available through regular commercial dealings.
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Payment deferrals

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Credit Union considered payment deferral requests from eligible members. The
agreement to a payment deferral on its own does not represent a significant increase in credit risk, and the loan does not
automatically move from Stage 1 to Stage 2 for IFRS 9 purposes. Facilities with payment deferrals are not considered past
due. Loans with deferrals that have moved from Stage 1 to Stage 2 have experienced a significant increase in credit risk
due to the adverse shift in economic conditions. In assessing credit risk, we monitor the credit quality of impacted borrowers
using sound credit risk management practices. The loan modifications due to payment deferrals did not result in any
modification gains or losses. Details regarding the number and balance of loans under payment deferral terms within
Stages 1 and 2 are as follows:

As at December 31, 2020

Loan type Number of loans deferred Value of loans deferred
Commercial loans 1 11,730
Consumer loans 1 20
Mortgages 8 17,432
Total deferred loans 10 29,182

Measurement of expected credit losses

The Credit Union measures expected credit losses for member loans receivable on a group basis. These assets are
grouped on the basis of their shared risk characteristics such as loan type (residential mortgages, commercial
loans/mortgages, agricultural loans/mortgages, personal loans, and lines of credit). Otherwise, expected credit losses are
measured on an individual basis.

When measuring 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, the Credit Union utilizes complex modelling, which uses
current banking system loan data to assess probability of default, exposure at default, loss given default, and present value
calculations. Forward-looking information is incorporated into the determination of expected credit loss by considering
regional economic journals and forecasts, collecting information available from regular commercial dealings with its
members and other publicly available information and considering the effect such information could have on any
assumptions or inputs used in the measurement of expected credit losses, determining significant increases in credit risk or
identifying a credit-impaired financial asset.

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions are required when calculating the expected credit losses of financial
assets. In measuring the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, management makes assumptions about
prepayments, the timing and extent of missed payments or default events. In addition, management makes assumptions
and estimates about the impact that future events may have on the historical data used to measure expected credit losses.

As indicated in Note 3, COVID-19 and the measures taken by Canadian federal, provincial and municipal governments to
limit the spread of COVID-19 have had a material adverse impact on the Canadian economy. To mitigate the economic
impact, governments have enacted policy measures to provide economic stimulus and financial support to both individuals
and businesses.

The Credit Union has run a number of simulations on its collective allowance, incorporating assumptions about the resulting
macroeconomic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, based on information and facts available at December 31, 2020. The
macroeconomic factors that affect the Credit Union expected credit loss calculations are: Saskatchewan unemployment
rates, Saskatchewan Housing Price Index, changes in real gross domestic product, and three-month Bank of Canada
bond/Bankers’ Acceptance rates. Each factor is forecast in a base case, a best case and a worst case scenario. These
scenarios are weighted, and the weighted average is used to build the estimate for expected credit losses. Key assumptions
of the simulations are lingering effects of the second wave of COVID-19, positive effects of the vaccine rollout, slow
recovery of the oil sector, and acceleration of economic output later in 2021. In addition, our modelling assumes lower than
historical recovery on defaulted loans, higher exposure on utilized lines of credit, and increased volatility in mortgage
security values and recoveries.
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The typical weighting used in the model is 80% base, 10% best and 10% worst case, as the base case is historically the
most likely scenario. The December 31, 2020 modelling is based on these weightings.

Management had to use judgment in several areas to assess if the estimate the model calculated was reasonable or if an
overlay was needed to increase or decrease the allowance. The negative effects of the global economic shut down,
increased unemployment and depressed oil prices had to be weighed against the more positive aspects of government
support programs, government loan programs, loan deferrals, and rent deferrals. In addition, sectors expected to be
impacted most heavily, and expected to sustain higher long-term risks, were analyzed and expected losses adjusted
accordingly. At December 31, 2020, management booked an overlay of $485 to increase the allowance.

Write-offs

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Credit Union assesses that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery when the borrower has filed for bankruptcy and the trustee has indicated that no
additional funds will be paid. Where information becomes available indicating the Credit Union will receive funds, such
amounts are recognized at their fair value.

Exposure to credit risk

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets assessed for impairment under IFRS 9 .
The amounts in the table, unless otherwise indicated, represent the assets’ gross carrying amount.

Except as noted below, the gross carrying amount of financial assets and exposure amount of loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts represents the maximum exposure to credit risk for that class of financial asset.

2020
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
Commercial and agricultural loans
Low risk 69,393 - 18 69,411
Low-average risk 120,286 83 17 120,386
Average risk 104,447 2,678 825 107,950
Average-high risk 103,463 41,834 5,359 150,656
High risk 1,425 11,392 7,444 20,261
Total gross carrying amount 399,014 55,987 13,663 468,664
Less: loss allowance 450 1,749 6,058 8,257
Total carrying amount 398,564 54,238 7,605 460,407
Personal loans
Low risk 45,403 3 - 45,406
Low-average risk 25,012 308 44 25,364
Average risk 2,764 615 - 3,379
Average-high risk 1,270 1,499 - 2,769
High risk 753 2,951 158 3,862
Total gross carrying amount 75,202 5,376 202 80,780
Less: loss allowance 222 285 128 635
Total carrying amount 74,980 5,091 74 80,145
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2020
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
Residential mortgages
Low risk 149,132 172 - 149,304
Low-average risk 76,568 654 205 77,427
Average risk 13,162 607 - 13,769
Average-high risk 6,916 2,332 1,161 10,409
High risk 3,665 12,673 1,185 17,523
Total gross carrying amount 249,443 16,438 2,551 268,432
Less: loss allowance 226 186 490 902
Total carrying amount 249,217 16,252 2,061 267,530
TOTAL
Low risk 263,928 175 18 264,121
Low-average risk 221,866 1,045 266 223,177
Average risk 120,373 3,900 825 125,098
Average-high risk 111,649 45,665 6,520 163,834
High risk 5,843 27,016 8,787 41,646
Total gross carrying amount 723,659 77,801 16,416 817,876
Less: loss allowance 898 2,220 6,676 9,794
Total carrying amount 722,761 75,581 9,740 808,082
2019
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
Commercial and agricultural loans
Low risk 67,265 144 - 67,409
Low-average risk 152,091 2,136 439 154,666
Average risk 142,543 1,203 1,055 144,801
Average-high risk 76,456 24,729 577 101,762
High risk 122 4,358 10,103 14,583
Total gross carrying amount 438,477 32,570 12,174 483,221
Less: loss allowance 334 651 1,702 2,687
Total carrying amount 438,143 31,919 10,472 480,534
Personal loans
Low risk 43,920 4 - 43,924
Low-average risk 25,560 216 35 25,811
Average risk 3,817 625 - 4,442
Average-high risk 1,553 705 - 2,258
High risk 763 3,658 229 4,650
Total gross carrying amount 75,613 5,208 264 81,085
Less: loss allowance 156 217 170 543
Total carrying amount 75,457 4,991 94 80,542
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2019
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
Residential mortgages
Low risk 140,087 649 - 140,736
Low-average risk 82,742 631 199 83,572
Average risk 13,920 374 - 14,294
Average-high risk 5,842 2,800 558 9,200
High risk 5,531 12,432 1,861 19,824
Total gross carrying amount 248,122 16,886 2,618 267,626
Less: loss allowance 205 173 500 878
Total carrying amount 247,917 16,713 2,118 266,748
TOTAL
Low risk 251,272 797 - 252,069
Low-average risk 260,393 2,983 673 264,049
Average risk 160,280 2,202 1,055 163,537
Average-high risk 83,851 28,234 1,135 113,220
High risk 6,416 20,448 12,193 39,057
Total gross carrying amount 762,212 54,664 15,056 831,932
Less: loss allowance 695 1,041 2,372 4,108
Total carrying amount 761,517 53,623 12,684 827,824

The gross carrying amount of individual financial assets for which 12-month or lifetime expected credit losses were
recognized and for which the Credit Union was unable to allocate to credit risk rating grades as at December 31, 2020 was
$35,585 (2019 — $92,644) relating to leases, participation loan pools, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.

Concentrations of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are exposed to similar economic risks by being engaged in
similar economic activities or being located in the same geographical region, and indicate the relative sensitivity of the
Credit Union's performance to developments affecting a particular segment of borrowers or geographical region.
Geographical risk exists for the Credit Union due to its primary service area being Yorkton, Saskatchewan and surrounding
areas.
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Amounts arising from expected credit losses
Reconciliation of the loss allowance

The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial
instrument.
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
Commercial and agricultural loans
Balance at January 1, 2019 324 589 3,655 4,568
Transfer to 12-month ECL 72 - (72) -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) (13) 13 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) 1) (116) 117 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 47) 314 758 1,025
New financial assets originated or purchased 92 32 93 217
Derecognized financial assets (93) (181) (28) (302)
Write-offs - - (2,821) (2,821)
Balance at December 31, 2019 334 651 1,702 2,687
Transfer to 12-month ECL 95 Q) (94) -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) (13) 77 (64) -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) - (129) 129 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (25) 613 4,635 5,223
New financial assets originated or purchased 80 625 - 705
Derecognized financial assets (21) (87) - (108)
Write-offs - - (250) (250)
Balance at December 31, 2020 450 1,749 6,058 8,257
Consumer loans

Balance at January 1, 2019 188 226 102 516
Transfer to 12-month ECL 61 (61) - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) (29) 19 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) - (6) 6 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (103) 24 190 111
New financial assets originated or purchased 57 36 11 104
Derecognized financial assets (28) (21) (28) (77)
Write-offs - - (111) (111)
Balance at December 31, 2019 156 217 170 543
Transfer to 12-month ECL 62 (62) - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) (11) 11 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) - Q) 1 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (53) 98 193 238
New financial assets originated or purchased 87 55 - 142
Derecognized financial assets (29) (33) - (52)
Write-offs - - (236) (236)
Balance at December 31, 2020 222 285 128 635
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Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired) Total
Residential mortgages

Balance at January 1, 2019 211 116 534 861
Transfer to 12-month ECL 61 (61) - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) (22) 22 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) 2) 2) 4 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (84) 92 380 388
New financial assets originated or purchased 50 8 - 58
Derecognized financial assets 9) 2) (117) (128)
Write-offs - - (301) (301)
Balance at December 31, 2019 205 173 500 878
Transfer to 12-month ECL 60 (60) - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (not credit impaired) (6) 6 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL (credit impaired) - (18) 18 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (36) 84 370 418
New financial assets originated or purchased 17 7 - 24
Derecognized financial assets (14) (6) - (20)
Write-offs - - (398) (398)
Balance at December 31, 2020 226 186 490 902

Changes in the gross carrying amount of financial instruments

The following tables explain how significant changes in the gross carrying amount of financial instruments during the year
contributed to changes in the loss allowance.

2020
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired)
Commercial and agricultural loans
New financial assets originated or purchased 80 625 -
Derecognized financial assets (21) (87) -
Write-offs - - (250)
Consumer loans
New financial assets originated or purchased 87 55 -
Derecognized financial assets (29) (33) -
Write-offs - - (236)
Residential mortgages
New financial assets originated or purchased 17 7 -
Derecognized financial assets (14) (6) -
Write-offs - - (398)
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2019
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
12-month ECL impaired) impaired)
Commercial and agricultural loans
New financial assets originated or purchased 92 32 93
Derecognized financial assets (93) (181) (28)
Write-offs - - (2,821)
Consumer loans
New financial assets originated or purchased 57 36 11
Derecognized financial assets (28) (21) (28)
Write-offs - - (111)
Residential mortgages
New financial assets originated or purchased 50 8 -
Derecognized financial assets 9 2 (117)
Write-offs - - (301)

Financial instruments for which the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 do not apply

The carrying amount of SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares, as disclosed in Note 6, best represents the Credit Union’s
maximum exposure to credit risk for those items. The Credit Union holds no collateral or other credit enhancements on
these balances.

As at December 31, 2020, the Credit Union held property with a carrying amount of $270 (2019 - $1,000), which was
obtained during the year by taking possession of collateral held as security on loans and mortgages.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss in value of financial instruments that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest
rates, equity prices and credit spreads. The Credit Union's exposure changes depending on market conditions. Market risks
that have a significant impact on the Credit Union include fair value risk and interest rate risk.

Market risk arises from changes in interest rates that affect the Credit Union's net interest income. Exposure to this risk
directly impacts the Credit Union's income from its loan and deposit portfolios. The Credit Union's objective is to earn an
acceptable net return on these portfolios, without taking unreasonable risk, while meeting member owner needs.

Risk measurement

The Credit Union's risk position is measured and monitored each quarter to ensure compliance with policy. Management
provides quarterly reports on these matters to the Credit Union's Board of Directors.

Objectives, policies and processes

Management is responsible for managing the Credit Union's interest rate risk, monitoring approved limits and compliance
with policies. The Credit Union manages market risk by developing and implementing asset and liability management
policies, which are approved and periodically reviewed by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union's goal is to achieve adequate levels of profitability, liquidity and safety. The Board of Directors reviews the
Credit Union's investment and asset liability management policies periodically to ensure they remain relevant and effective
in managing and controlling risk.
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Credit Union’s financial condition to movements in interest rates. Cash flow interest
rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Credit Union’s financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in prevailing market interest rates. Interest margins reported in comprehensive income may increase or decrease
in response to changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union incurs interest rate risk on its loans and other interest
bearing financial instruments.

In managing interest rate risk, the Credit Union relies primarily upon use of asset - liability and interest rate sensitivity
simulation models, which is monitored by the Credit Union’s finance department and reported to the Asset and Liability
Committee ("ALCO") which is responsible for managing interest rate risk. Periodically, the Credit Union may enter into
interest rate swaps to adjust the exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the repricing of the Credit Union’s financial
instruments.

Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the change in value of the Credit Union’s financial instruments against a range of
incremental basis point changes in interest rates over a twelve month period. Interest rate shock analysis is calculated in a
similar manner to sensitivity analysis but involves a more significant change of 100 basis points in interest rates. Sensitivity
analysis and interest rate shock analysis are calculated on a quarterly basis and are reported to the ALCO.

Other types of interest rate risk are basis risk (the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship of interest rates which
have similar but not identical characteristics; for example, the difference between prime rates and the Canadian Deposit
Offering Rate) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss of interest income arising from the early repayment of fixed rate
mortgages and loans), both of which are monitored on a regular basis and are reported to the ALCO.

The Credit Union's major source of income is financial margin which is the difference between interest earned on
investments and loans to members and interest paid to members on their deposits. The objective of managing the financial
margin is to match repricing or maturity dates of loans and investments and member deposits within policy limits. These
limits are intended to limit the Credit Union's exposure to changing interest rates and to wide fluctuations of income during
periods of changing interest rates. The differential represents the net mismatch between loans and investments and
member deposits for those particular maturity dates. Certain items on the statement of financial position, such as non-
interest bearing member deposits and equity do not provide interest rate exposure to the Credit Union. These items are
reported as non-interest rate sensitive in the table below.

Amounts with variable interest rates, or due on demand, are classified as on demand.

A significant amount of member loans receivable and member deposits can be settled before maturity on payment of a
penalty. No adjustment has been made for repayments that may occur prior to maturity.

Interest rate sensitivity

In the table below, the carrying amounts of financial instruments are presented in the periods in which they next reprice to
market rates or mature and are summed to show the net interest rate sensitivity gap.

Contractual repricing and maturity

All financial instruments are reported in the schedule below based on the earlier of their contractual repricing date or
maturity date. The schedule below does not identify management's expectations of future events where repricing and
maturity dates differ from contractual dates.
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Over 3
Within 3 monthsto 1 Over 1year Non-Interest
On demand months year to 5years Over 5years Sensitive 2020 Total 2019 Total
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents 40,773 25,000 - - - 7,919 73,692 30,642
Average
yield % 0.40 0.55 - - - - 0.41 1.36
Investments - 8,012 67,564 158,304 7,935 871 242,686 137,735
Average
yield % - 0.73 1.26 1.72 0.25 - 1.51 2.33
Member loans
receivable 176,381 87,473 175,059 371,618 9,678 4,852 825,061 882,044
Average
yield % 4,22 4.02 3.89 3.79 4.23 - 3.91 4,32
Accounts
receivable - - - - - 1,348 1,348 1,674
Interest rate
swap derivative - - - - - - - 92
Index linked
derivatives - - - - - 838 838 789
217,154 120,485 242,623 529,922 17,613 15,828 1,143,625 1,052,976
Liabilities
Line of credit - - - - - - - 2,123
Average
yield % - - - - - - - 3.45
Member
deposits 392,449 114,828 218,836 143,570 - 182,152 1,051,835 958,511
Average
yield % 0.17 1.96 1.29 2.32 - - 0.86 1.40
Membership
shares - - - - - 4,760 4,760 4,978
Securitization
debt - - - - - - - 3,056
Average
yield % - - - - - - - 1.56
Accounts
payable - - - - - 3,618 3,618 3,333
Interest rate
swap derivative - - - - - 739 739 -
Index linked
derivatives - - - - - 838 838 789
392,449 114,828 218,836 143,570 - 192,107 1,061,790 972,790
Net
sensitivity (175,295) 5,657 23,787 386,352 17,613 (176,279) 81,835 80,186
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union cannot meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as they come due. The
Credit Union's management oversees the Credit Union's liquidity risk to ensure the Credit Union has access to enough
readily available funds to cover its financial obligations as they come due. The Credit Union's business requires such
liquidity for operating and regulatory purposes. Refer to Note 6 for further information about the Credit Union's regulatory
requirements.

Liquidity risk is managed through a three tiered structure consisting of the local Credit Union level, the provincial Credit
Union level and the national Credit Union level.

Locally, the Credit Union manages its liquidity position from three perspectives:

. Structural liquidity risk, which addresses the risk due to mismatches in effective maturities between assets and
liabilities, more specifically the risk of over reliance on short-term liabilities to fund long-term illiquid assets;

. Tactical liquidity risk, which addresses the day-to-day funding requirements that are managed by imposing
prudential limits on net fund outflows; and

. Contingent liquidity risk, which assess the impact of sudden stressful events and the Credit Union’s responses
thereto.

The primary liquidity risk policies and procedures include the following:

. Liquidity risk management framework to measure and control liquidity risk exposure;
o Measurement of cashflows;

. Maintenance of a line of credit and borrowing facility with SaskCentral and others;

. Maintenance of a pool of high quality liquid assets;

. Monitoring of single deposits and sources of deposits;

. Monitoring of term deposits; and

. Contingency planning.

Provincially, SaskCentral manages a statutory liquidity pool of marketable investment securities on behalf of Saskatchewan
Credit Unions to facilitate clearing and settlement, daily cash flow management and emergency liquidity support. Nationally,
credit union centrals are represented by one central which acts as the Group Clearer, Central 1 Credit Union. The Group
Clearer is a member of the Canadian Payments Association and pools provincial cash flows to settle with the Bank of
Canada.

The following table details contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

As at December 31, 2020:

< 1lyear 1-2 years > 2 years Total
Member deposits 913,351 81,691 70,553 1,065,595
Issued financial guarantee contracts 22,031 597 - 22,628
Accounts payable 3,618 - - 3,618
Interest rate swap derivative 258 257 302 817
Index linked derivative 155 287 419 861
Membership shares - - 4,760 4,760
Total 939,413 82,832 76,034 1,098,279
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As at December 31, 2019:

<1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total
Line of credit 2,123 - - 2,123
Member deposits 784,827 100,030 90,625 975,482
Securitization debt 3,106 - - 3,106
Issued financial guarantee contracts 28,166 652 652 29,470
Accounts payable 3,333 - - 3,333
Index linked derivatives 179 133 477 789
Membership shares - - 4,978 4,978
Total 821,734 100,815 96,732 1,019,281

The Credit Union manages liquidity risk on a net asset and liability basis. The following tables explain the contractual
maturities of financial assets held for the purpose of managing liquidity risk.

As at December 31, 2020:

<1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 73,692 - - 73,692
Investments 79,759 62,597 107,673 250,029
Member loans receivable 462,327 146,750 258,435 867,512
Issued financial guarantee contracts 631 631 18,454 19,716
Accounts receivable 1,348 - - 1,348
Index linked derivatives 155 287 419 861
Total 617,912 210,265 384,981 1,213,158
As at December 31, 2019:

<1 year 1-2 years > 2 years Total
Cash and cash equivalents 30,642 - - 30,642
Investments 46,840 25,244 73,630 145,714
Member loans receivable 492,329 186,966 249,770 929,065
Issued financial guarantee contracts 972 972 24,611 26,555
Accounts receivable 1,674 - - 1,674
Interest rate swap derivative 156 a7) (49) 90
Index linked derivatives 179 133 477 789
Total 572,792 213,298 348,439 1,134,529

The above tables were prepared using undiscounted contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities including
interest that will be earned or paid on these amounts.
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Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. In seeking to manage the risks from foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the Credit
Union maintains foreign cash balances to approximately offset deposits held in foreign funds.

Foreign currency risk is not considered significant at this time as the Credit Union does not engage in any active trading of
foreign currency positions or hold significant excess foreign currency denominated financial investments for an extended
period.

Fair value measurements

The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position using a three-tier fair
value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

. Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

. Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which require the Credit Union to

develop its own assumptions

Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is assessed to be
significant to that fair value measurement. This assessment requires the use of judgment in considering factors specific to
an asset or a liability and may affect the placement of the fair value measurement within the hierarchy.

The Credit Union considers a fair value measurement to have transferred between the levels in the fair value hierarchy on
the beginning of the reporting period, the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, as well as no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the period.

In determining fair value measurements, the Credit Union uses the net present value valuation techniques and inputs
consisting of actual balances, actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value

The Credit Union’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position on a
recurring basis have been categorized into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2020
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Cash 30,154 30,154 - -
Other equity investments 7,438 - 7,438 -
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares 7,462 - - 7,462
Index linked derivatives 838 - 838 -
Total financial assets 45,892 30,154 8,276 7,462
Financial liabilities
Interest rate swap derivative 739 - 739 -
Index linked derivatives 838 - 838 -
Total financial liabilities 1,577 - 1,577 -
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2019
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets
Cash 6,524 6,524 - -
Other equity investments 7,305 - 7,305 -
SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares 7,462 - - 7,462
Interest rate swap derivative 92 - 92 -
Index linked derivatives 789 - 789 -
Total financial assets 22,172 6,524 8,186 7,462
Financial liabilities
Index linked derivatives 789 - 789 -
Total financial liabilities 789 - 789 -

All recurring Level 2 fair value measurements use a net present value valuation technique and inputs consisting of actual
balances, actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.

For fair value measurements of Level 3 SaskCentral and Concentra Bank shares, the Credit Union has assumed that the
fair value of the amounts is comparable to their amortized cost, which equals the par value of the shares. The shares are
not quoted or traded, however when new shares are offered the price remains the same as the par value of all currently
available shares. There was no impact of the measurement on profit or loss for the year.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The carrying amount, fair value, and categorization into the fair value hierarchy of all other financial assets and financial
liabilities held by the Credit Union and not measured at fair value on the statement of financial position are as follows:

2020
Carrying
amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets measured at
amortized cost
Cash equivalents 43,538 43,538 43,538 - -
Investments 227,786 233,446 - 233,446 -
Member loans receivable 825,061 824,952 - 824,952 -
Account receivables 1,348 1,348 - 1,348 -
Total financial assets 1,097,733 1,103,284 43,538 1,059,746 -
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost
Member deposits 1,051,835 1,059,326 - 1,059,326 -
Accounts payable 3,618 3,618 - 3,618 -
Membership shares 4,760 4,760 - - 4,760
Total financial liabilities 1,060,213 1,067,704 - 1,062,944 4,760
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2019
Carrying
amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets measured at
amortized cost
Cash equivalents 24,118 24,118 24,118 - -
Investments 122,968 129,135 - 129,135 -
Member loans receivable 882,044 930,100 - 930,100 -
Accounts receivable 1,674 1,674 - 1,674 -
Total financial assets 1,030,804 1,085,027 24,118 1,060,909 -
Financial liabilities measured at
amortized cost
Line of credit 2,123 2,123 - 2,123 -
Member deposits 958,511 971,933 - 971,933 -
Securitization debt 3,056 3,082 - 3,082 -
Accounts payable 3,333 3,333 - 3,333 -
Membership shares 4,978 4,978 - - 4,978
Total financial liabilities 972,001 985,449 - 980,471 4,978

Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements for financial instruments not measured at fair value
Valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

All Level 2 fair value measurements use a net present value valuation technique and inputs consisting of actual balances,
actual rates, market rates (for similar instruments) and payment frequency.

As there is no observable market data for all fair values disclosed and categorized within Level 3 of the hierarchy, the Credit
Union has assumed that the fair value of the amounts is comparable to their amortized cost.

Commitments

In 2016, the Credit Union entered into a seven year commitment with Celero for the provision of retail banking services. The
annual operating fee is calculated based on the average number of outstanding accounts throughout the year. The annual
operating fees to December 31, 2020 were $652 (2020 - $659) and recorded as an expense. The annual estimated fee to
December 31, 2021 is $597 (2020 - $652).

In prior years the Credit Union entered into an agreement to purchase units in the APEX Ill Investment Fund. The Credit
Union makes advances to the Fund when requested, which decreases the remaining commitment. Redemption of units
does not increase the total remaining commitment to the Fund. At the end of December 2020, the Credit Union has
advanced $1,054 (2019 - $449) of their total commitment of $4,000 to the APEX IIl Investment Fund.

In prior years the Credit Union entered into an agreement to purchase units in the Westcap MBO Il Investment Fund. The
Credit Union makes advances to the Fund when requested, which decreases the remaining commitment. Redemption of
units does not increase the total remaining commitment to the Fund. At the end of December 2020, the Credit Union has
advanced $800 (2019 - $500) of their total commitment of $1,000 to the Westcap MBO Il Investment Fund.

In prior years the Credit Union entered into an agreement to purchase units in the Conexus Venture Capital Fund. The
Credit Union makes advances to the Fund when requested, which decreases the remaining commitment. Redemption of
units does not increase the total remaining commitment to the Fund. At the end of December 2020, the Credit Union has
advanced $403 (2019 - $203) of their total commitment of $1,000 to the Conexus Venture Capital Fund.
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In 2020 the Credit Union entered into an agreement to purchase units in the Emmertech Fund. The Credit Union makes
advances to the Fund when requested, which decreases the remaining commitment. Redemption of units does not increase
the total remaining commitment to the Fund. At the end of December 2020, the Credit Union has advanced $nil of their total
commitment of $500 to the Emmertech Fund.

Other legal and regulatory risk

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that the Credit Union has not complied with requirements set out in terms of compliance
such as standards of sound business practice, anti-money laundering legislation or their code of conduct/conflict of interest
requirements. In seeking to manage these risks, the Credit Union has established policies and procedures and monitors to
ensure ongoing compliance.

Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy

In response to the negative economic impact of COVID-19, the Government of Canada announced the Canada Emergency
Wage Subsidy ("CEWS") program in April 2020. CEWS provides a wage subsidy on eligible remuneration, subject to limits
per employee, to eligible employers based on certain criteria, including demonstration of revenue declines as a result of
COVID-19. This subsidy is retroactive to March 15, 2020. The qualification and application of the CEWS is assessed over
multiple four-week application periods.

The Company has determined that it has qualified for the CEWS for the following periods during the year: Period 1: March
15 — April 11, 2020 ; Period 2: April 12 — May 9, 2020 ; Period 3: May 10 — June 6, 2020 ; Period 4: June 7 — July 4, 2020 ;
Period 5: July 5 — August 1, 2020 ; Period 6: August 2 — August 29, 2020 ; Period 7: August 30 — September 26, 2020 ;
Period 8: September 27 — October 24, 2020 ; Period 9: October 25 — November 21, 2020; Period 10 - November 22 -
December 19, 2020 Period 11 - December 20, 2020 to January 16, 2021. The Credit Union has applied for and received
government assistance for periods 1 - 9 with an estimated receivable recorded for period 10 related to the CEWS which has
been reflected in income as other income.

Canada Emergency Business Account Program

Under the Canada Emergency Business Account ("CEBA™) Program, with funding provided by the Government of Canada
and Export Development Canada ("EDC") as the Government of Canada’s agent, the Credit Union provides loans to its
business banking members. In June 2020, eligibility for the CEBA loan program was expanded to include businesses that
did not meet the payroll requirements of the initial program but had other eligible non-deferrable expenses. Under the CEBA
Program, eligible businesses receive up to $60,000 interest-free loan until December 31, 2022. If $40,000 is repaid on or
before December 31, 2022, the remaining amount of the loan is eligible for complete forgiveness. If the loan is not repaid by
December 31, 2022, it will be extended for an additional 3-year term bearing an interest rate of 5% per annum. The funding
provided to the Credit Union by the Government of Canada in respect of the CEBA Program represents an obligation to
pass-through collections on the CEBA loans and is otherwise non-recourse to the Credit Union. Accordingly, the Credit
Union is required to remit all collections of principal and interest on the CEBA loans to the Government of Canada but is not
required to repay amounts that its members fail to pay or that have been forgiven. The Credit Union receives an
administration fee to recover the costs to administer the program for the Government of Canada. Loans issued under the
program are not recognized on the Credit Union's Statement of Financial Position, as the Credit Union transfers
substantially all risks and rewards in respect of the loans to the Government of Canada. As of December 31, 2020, the
Credit Union had provided approximately 434 members with CEBA loans and had funded approximately $18 million in loans
under the program.
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26.

27.

28.

COVID-19

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global outbreak of COVID-19 (coronavirus), which has had a
significant impact on businesses through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial and municipal
governments regarding travel, business operations and isolation/quarantine orders. COVID-19 has continued to affect the
Credit Union's employees, members and communities, with resultant impacts on operations, financial results and present
and future risks to our business. Results across all our branches have been and continue to be impacted by downstream
implications from the changes in the macroeconomic environment, including lower interest rates, modest consumer
spending relative to pre-pandemic levels, fluctuations in credit spreads and changes in operating costs. Measures to
contain the spread of COVID-19 include temporary branch closures, implementation of social distancing protocols and
enactment of Crisis Management Team. To provide immediate and long-term relief for members impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic the Credit Union has offered payment deferrals, the majority of which have come to an end, however a few
extend past year end. Existing deferrals were provided on a case by case basis.

At this time, it is unknown the extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Credit Union as this will depend
on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence. These uncertainties arise
from the inability to predict the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, and the duration of the outbreak, including the
duration of travel restrictions, business closures or disruptions, and quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may
be put, in place by Canada and other countries to fight the virus.

Events after the reporting period - business combination

On June 15, 2020, the membership of Cornerstone Credit Union, Horizon Credit Union and Plainsview Credit Union voted in
favour of an amalgamation. The amalgamation was approved by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation pursuant
to subsection 307(2)(d) of the Act on June 25, 2020, with the newly amalgamated Credit Union operating as Cornerstone
Credit Union Financial Group Limited effective January 1, 2021.

The assets and liabilities of Horizon Credit Union and Plainsview Credit Union constitutes a business and will be accounted
for using the acquisition method of accounting. The Credit Union has been identified as the acquirer, acquiring 100% of the
voting equity interest of Horizon Credit Union and Plainsview Credit Union (the acquirees). The results of the acquired
business will be included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

The amalgamation is anticipated to increase the Credit Union trade area by providing increased access to the retall
network. The merger provides an opportunity for increased efficiencies through the combination of front and back office
functionality, as well as an opportunity for the members of the amalgamated credit unions to have access to an increasingly
diverse product base.

There will be no consideration transferred in order to amalgamate the credit unions. In the absence of consideration
transferred, the fair value of the interest in the acquired entities will be calculated using the amalgamation date fair value of
the equity interest of the acquired entities. In addition, the fair value of the acquiree's net assets will be recognized as a
direct addition to capital or equity on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The final assessment of fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition is in
progress as of the date of the financial statements.

Events after the reporting period - sale of shares in joint venture

Pursuant to management's strategic plan, the Credit Union has decided to sell its shares of Thrive Wealth Management
Ltd., in which it has joint control, to the other venturer. The planned sale will be effective January 1, 2021. No proceeds nor
gain or loss were experienced.
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